
 

1 

COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

Ryan A. Hamilton 

CA BAR NO. 291349 

HAMILTON LAW  

5125 S. Durango Dr., Ste. C 

Las Vegas, NV 89113 

(702) 818-1818 

(702) 974-1139 (fax) 

ryan@hamiltonlawlasvegas.com 

 

Attorney for the plaintiffs 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

SHERRI BROWN; and EMILY BROWN, 

 

                                         Plaintiffs, 

          

   vs. 

 

NARCONON FRESH START d/b/a 

SUNSHINE SUMMIT FRESH START; 

ASSOCIATION FOR BETTER LIVING AND 

EDUCATION INTERNATIONAL; 

NARCONON INTERNATIONAL and DOES 

1-100, ROE Corporations I – X, inclusive, 

 

                                        Defendants. 

 

  

 

Case No.   

  

 

 

 COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

   

         

 Plaintiffs Sherri, and Emily Brown (“Plaintiffs”), by and through their counsel, Ryan 

Hamilton of HAMILTON LAW, LLC, allege the following:   

1. Plaintiffs were, and at all relevant times to this Complaint are, residents of San Bernardino 

County, California. 

2. Defendant Narconon Fresh Start d/b/a Sunshine Summit Fresh Start (hereafter “Fresh 

Start”), is, and at all times relevant to this Complaint was, a corporation incorporated under the 

laws of, and with its principal place of business in, the State of California. NFS has been at all 

relevant times transacting business in Warner Springs, County of San Diego, California.  
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3. Defendant Narconon International (“NI”) is a California corporation with its headquarters 

in Los Angeles, California. 

4. NI is the principal of Fresh Start. As set forth in more detail below, NI exercises control 

over the time, manner, and method of Fresh Start’s operations. 

5. NI was doing business in the State of California by and through its agent and 

subsidiary/licensee Fresh Start. NI may be served with process through its registered agent, 

Sherman D. Lenske, 6400 Canoga Ave., Suite 315, Woodland Hills, CA 91367.   

6. Fresh Start and NI are subsidiaries of the Association for Better Living and Education 

(“ABLE”). ABLE oversees the drug rehabilitation, education, and criminal justice activities of the 

Church of Scientology including, but not limited to, NFS and NI. 

7. Defendant ABLE is a corporation registered in the State of California with its headquarters 

in Los Angeles, California.   

8. ABLE controls the time, manner, and method of NI’s and Fresh Start’s businesses by 

actively managing their daily operations, including conducting inspections of Narconon centers 

and creating, licensing, and approving their marketing materials.  

9. ABLE transacts business in the State of California by and through its agents, NI 

International and Fresh Start. ABLE may be served with process through its registered agent, 

Sherman D. Lenske, 6400 Canoga Ave., Suite 315, Woodland Hills, CA 91367.   

10. Plaintiffs are unaware of the true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, 

associate, or otherwise, of Defendant DOES 1-100, inclusive, and, therefore, sues these 

Defendants by fictitious names. Plaintiffs will seek leave of this Court to amend this Complaint 

when the identities of these Defendants are ascertained.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

11. This Court has federal question jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 
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12. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) because a substantial portion 

of the events and omissions giving rise to this lawsuit occurred in this District, and the Court has 

personal jurisdiction over each of the parties as alleged throughout this Complaint.   

 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

13. On or about March 6, 2014, Plaintiff Sherri Brown was searching on the Internet to find a 

rehabilitation facility for her daughter, Plaintiff Emily Brown. She came upon a drug rehab 

website that claimed to be a resource for finding independent rehabilitation facilities. Sherri called 

the number on the site, and spoke with a representative named Jake.  

12. Jake told Sherri that he was part of a referral agency just looking to help people get off 

drugs. Jake said he had a program with a 76% success rate, Fresh Start.  

13. Jake told Sherri he would put Sherri in contact with the person in charge of arranging 

finances at Fresh Start.  

14. Sherri was then contacted by Tonya Lawson, Admissions Counselor at Fresh Start.  

15.  Tonya represented to Sherri that the cost of the Fresh Start was $33,000. When Sherri 

explained that she did not have that much money, Tonya explained that she could arrange a 

“scholarship” for $23,000 for Emily Brown. Tonya told Sherri that Emily needed this program and 

if she didn’t pay for this program, she would be paying for her daughter’s coffin.  

16. Sherri asked Tonya three times whether the Fresh Start program had anything to do with 

religion. Each time Tonya responded that the program was completely secular.  

17. Tonya represented that there would be licensed medical professionals such as doctors or 

nurses to care for her daughter. Tonya also represented to Sherri that Emily would receive 

counseling through this program.  

18. Tonya also represented to Sherri that the treatment program Fresh Start offers has a 76% 

success rate.  
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19. Tonya further represented to Sherri that the Fresh Start program has a sauna program that 

has been scientifically shown to reduce or eliminate an addict’s drug cravings by flushing out 

residual drug toxins stored in an addict’s fatty tissue.  

20. Based on these representations, Sherri paid Fresh Start $10,000.00 to provide drug 

treatment to her daughter, Emily. 

21.  Sherri executed the contract attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

 

22.  The contract warrants that “[t]he Narconon Program is secular (NON-RELIGIOUS) in 

nature and does not include participation in any religious studies of any kind.”  

23. The contract further provides that the 

The Narconon program was founded in 1966 by William Benitez, 

where it was first used in the Arizona State Prison, after being inspired 

by the practical betterment philosophy of author and humanitarian L. 

Ron Hubbard in the book, The Fundamentals of Thought.  

 

24. The actual title of the book the contract refers to is Scientology: The 

Fundamentals of Thought – The Basic Book of Theory and Practice of Scientology 

for Beginners.  

25. The Church of Scientology’s website indicates that this book was 

“designated by L. Ron Hubbard as the Book One of Scientology.” (emphasis in 

original) See http://www.scientology.org/books/catalog/scientology-the-

fundamentals-of-thought-paperback.html 

26. Contrary to Fresh Start’s representations, there were no doctors medical 

professionals such as doctors or nurses at Fresh Start d/b/a Sunshine Summit Lodge 

to oversee Emily.  

27. Emily did not receive any type of substance abuse counseling at Fresh Start. 

Counseling is not a part of the treatment program Fresh Start offers.  
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28. Fresh Start uses the Narconon treatment program. The Narconon program is the same for 

every patient regardless of the patient’s specific addiction problems.   

29. The Narconon program consists of eight books based on the works of L. Ron Hubbard, the 

founder of the Scientology religion. These eight books contain almost no information about drugs, 

substance abuse, or its treatment.  

30. The eight Narconon books contain only Scientology doctrines and teachings. Such 

doctrines include, without limitation, the Eight Dynamics of Existence, the Conditions of 

Existence, the Suppressive Person and Potential Trouble Source doctrines, the Tone Scale, the 

Affinity Reality Communication triangle, and the Cycle-of-Action. 

31.  Almost all of the material in the Narconon books has been copied directly out of 

Scientology scriptures.   

32. In the Narconon program, patients are instructed to demonstrate their understanding of 

Scientology concepts like the “Eight Dynamics” by creating clay models.   

33. Fresh Start had Emily perform drills known as “Training Routines” or TRs. These TRs 

come straight from Scientology scripture and have no apparent connection to the treatment of 

substance abuse.  

34. For example, in TR3, Fresh Start had Emily sit with another patient and repeatedly ask the 

other patient “Do fish swim?” for hours on end.  

35. To gauge a patient’s progress in the program, Fresh Start administered Scientology’s 

personality or stress test known as the “Oxford Capacity Analysis.” This “analysis” contains 200 

questions that a patient must answer “yes,” “no,” or “maybe.”  

36. A typical question on the Oxford Capacity Analysis is question 3: “Do you browse through 

railway timetables, directories, or dictionaries just for pleasure?”  

37. Fresh Start also had Emily undergo the Narconon sauna program, called the New Life 

Detoxification Program.  
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38. The sauna program, known as the “New Life Detoxication” program is identical to the 

Scientology ritual known as “Purification Rundown,” or the “Purif.” Beginning Scientologists are 

required to go through the Purification Rundown.  

39. In the New Life Detoxification program students first exercise vigorously before entering 

the sauna each day. On entering the sauna, Fresh Start requires each student to ingest increasing 

doses of Niacin and a “vitamin bomb.”   

40. Fresh Start claimed the New Life Detoxification program would reduce or eliminate 

Emily’s drug cravings by flushing her body of residual drug toxins stored in her fatty tissue.    

41. Not only does the New Life Detoxification Program fail to live up to Fresh Start’s claims 

about its benefits, the sauna program is dangerous. By having patients such as Emily ingest 

extreme doses of Niacin and other vitamins while sitting in extreme temperatures for hours, the 

sauna program unnecessarily exposed Emily to serious health risks.   

42. In a prior lawsuit, Dr. Louis A. Casal, an expert retained by Narconon International and 

Narconon of Northern Georgia in a wrongful death suit filed against those entities, testified at his 

deposition. The relevant portions of Dr. Casal’s deposition testimony are attached hereto as 

Exhibit B. When asked under oath about the New Life Detoxification program, he testified that 

there is no scientific basis for the notion that sweating in a sauna detoxifies a person’s body or 

treats addiction: 

 Q. Have you looked at the Narconon literature on what Narconon contends the 

benefits from the sauna are? 

 A. [Dr. Casal]  Yes, I have.  

 Q. And the sauna program, what Narconon contends is that in – it in fact detoxifies 

your body. True? 

 A.  True. 
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 Q. But there’s no scientific basis that you can point me to to support that contention, is 

there, sir? 

 A. You’re correct. 

 Q. So when Narconon states that the sauna program detoxifies its students, you’re not 

aware, as a medical doctor, of any scientific basis for that contention? 

 A. I agree.  

Exhibit B, Deposition of Dr. Louis Casal, 136: 21 – 137:9.  

43. Despite their own expert’s admission that there is no scientific basis for the idea that 

patients sweating in the New Life Detoxification Program treats addiction, Fresh Start continues to 

represent to prospective patients, as they did to Plaintiff Sherri Brown, that the New Life 

Detoxification has been “scientifically and medically proven” as effective.  

44.  Narconon claims a success rate of over 76% for all Narconon centers, including Narconon 

Fresh Start d/b/a Sunshine Summit Lodge. Narconon International has published no studies or 

other verifiable evidence to support their claimed success rates. 

45. Dr. Casal, the medical expert retained by Narconon International in another lawsuit, 

testified at his deposition that he was not convinced Narconon’s claimed success rate was true: 

 Q. Okay. What are you relying on – well, let me ask you this; do you believe that 76 

percent success ratio is accurate? 

 A. [Dr. Casal].   Mr. Harris, I’ll be honest with you, that’s a big number.  

 Q. Yeah, it’s -- it’s a real big number. 

 A. It’s a big number.  

 Q. And it’s completely inconsistent –  

 A. I – I hope it’s true, but, I mean, I would need some convincing.  

… 

 Q. Okay. Do you have any idea where Narconon is getting the numbers that it’s using? 
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 A. You know, in the interest of time – I just didn’t have enough time to delve deeper 

into those studies, Mr. Harris. And I – I would be happy to, but, no, I don’t have a clear 

understanding of where that 70 – 70-something number came from, no, sir.  

Exhibit B, Deposition of Dr. Louis Casal, 124:21 – 125:5; 126:1 – 7.  

46. Likewise, the Director of Legal Affairs for Narconon International, Claudia Arcabascio, 

advised the Narconon Freedom Center in Michigan not to claim the high success rate in 

responding to a Better Business Bureau complaint. Ms. Arcabascio advised Narconon Freedom 

“do not say we have 70% success (we do not have scientific evidence of it).” See email from Ms. 

Arcabascio, attached hereto as Exhibit C.  

47. Defendants are well aware that there is no basis for the claimed success rate of the 

Narconon program. Nevertheless, Fresh Start claimed a 76% success rate for the Narconon 

program to Sherri Brown to induce her to send her daughter to Fresh Start for treatment.  

48. Narconon documents indicate that the Narconon program is used to recruit patients into the 

Church of Scientology. For example, a Narconon titled the “Narconon Technical Line-Up” 

provides a flow chart of a patient’s experience into and through the Narconon program. The 

document shows that when a patient finishes the Narconon program, the patient is to be “route[d] 

to the nearest Org for further services if the individual so desires.” “Org” is Scientology jargon for 

an individual church providing services for the Church of Scientology. A copy of the “Narconon 

Technical Line-up” is attached hereto as Exhibit D.   

49. Narconon considers its program to be the “Bridge to the Bridge.” That is, Narconon 

considers its program to be an initial step into getting on Scientology’s “Bridge to Total 

Freedom,” the key spiritual journey that practitioners of the Scientology religion undertake.  See, 

e.g., “Narconon News, 1974, Volume 6, Issue 3: Narconon Is The Bridge to The Bridge,” attached 

hereto as Exhibit E.      
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50.  Fresh Start displays tokens of gratitude it has received for introducing patients to 

Scientology around its offices. At Fresh Start’s headquarters in Glendale, California, hangs a 

plaque from the Church of Scientology that thanks Larry Trahant and “The Narconon Fresh Start 

Team” for introducing patients to L. Ron Hubbard and “The Bridge.” The writing on the plaque 

provides, in relevant part: 

 

Larry and his dynamic team at Narconon Fresh Start are hereby 

warmly thanked and highly commended for their dedication and 

hard work. They give us tremendous back up in introducing LRH to 

the world and are saving lives on a daily basis. There are thousands 

of beings who have taken their first steps on The Bridge, thanks to 

the compassion and efforts of this team.   

 

A photo of this plaque is attached hereto as Exhibit F.  

 

51. Scientology’s own marketing documents show that the Narconon program is part of 

Scientology’s plan to “clear” the planet. (To “go clear” is the ultimate spiritual goal for a 

Scientologist, achieved after one goes up the “Bridge to Total Freedom.”) The document attached 

hereto as Exhibit G, shows a Church of Scientology, or an “Org” as it’s known, with an arrow 

directed at the Narconon “Jumping Man” logo. The document reads: 

The question is not how to clear an individual, it’s how to clear a 

civilization … by making every one of our orgs a central 

organization responsible for every sector of Scientology activities 

across it’s [sic] entire geographic zone. 

In other words, the Church of Scientology is supposed to direct Narconon to 

achieve Scientology’s spiritual goal of “clearing” the planet.  

52. Fresh Start is using the Narconon program to introduce Scientology and L. 

Ron Hubbard’s “technology” to unwitting patients seeking drug rehabilitation. This 

is exactly as the Church of Scientology directed as part of its “Social Coordination 

Strategy.” Scientology explicitly outlined this strategy in an urgent Executive 

Directive from the Authorization, Verification, and Correction Department of its 
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Religious Technology Center. The Executive Directive outlining the “Social 

Coordination Strategy” is attached hereto as Exhibit H (hereafter the “SOCO 

Directive”).   

53. The SOCO Directive instructed all SOCO GROUPS, which includes 

Narconon, as follows:  

YOU ARE THERE TO SELL LRH’s TECH TO THE SOCIETY 

AND GET IT USED, AS THE TECH. You do this through a 

SMOOTH JOB OF PROMTIONAL ORGANIZATION – FRONT 

GROUPS, CORPORATIONS, FIELD WORKERS, ETC. 

(emphases in original). 

 

The SOCO Directive expressly directed using front groups to introduce L. Ron 

Hubbard’s “technology,” i.e., Scienotology to society.  

54. Due to the bizarre “treatments” Fresh Start was subjecting Emily to she felt very scared 

and unsafe. So that she would no longer have to endure the strange treatments, Emily escaped 

from Fresh Start in the middle of the night.   

55. Emily continues suffering mental anguish and paranoia from her time at Fresh Start.   

RELATIONSHIP AMONG DEFENDANTS 

56. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set 

forth in the preceding paragraphs and further allege as follows: 

57. Defendant Fresh Start has all appearances of being a corporate sham illusion and mere 

instrumentalities of Defendants NI and ABLE.  

58. ABLE and NI heavily influence Narconon Fresh Start and govern and control nearly every 

aspect of Narconon Fresh Start’s business activities.  

59. NI publishes operations manuals and requires that individual Narconon centers such as 

Narconon Fresh Start d/b/a A Life Worth Saving abide by these manuals in their operations. These 

operations manuals are called “Running An Effective Narconon Center” and “Opening A 

Successful Narconon Center.”   

Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1   Filed 08/13/14   Page 10 of 20



 

11 

COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

60. These manuals show that NI and ABLE have the ultimate authority over Narconon Fresh 

Start employees. Narconon Fresh Start cannot demote, transfer, or dismiss a permanent staff 

member at Narconon Fresh Start without approval from the Senior Director of Administration at 

NI.   

61. NI has the ultimate authority over the hiring of staff members at Narconon Fresh Start. If a 

Narconon Fresh Start staff member does not meet the qualifications of a staff member, the staff 

member may petition the Senior Director of Administration at NI to remain on staff.   

62. If a staff member at Narconon Fresh Start believes she has been given orders or denied 

materials that make it hard or impossible for her to do her job, she may file a “Job Endangerment 

Chit” with the Ethics Department at NI. NI then investigates and works to resolve the staff 

member’s issue.   

63. The operations manuals require staff members at Narconon Fresh Start to report 

misconduct and “nonoptimum conduct’ to the Quality Control Supervisor at NI. NI investigates 

misconduct at Narconon Fresh Start and may take disciplinary actions against its staff members.   

64. NI receives ten percent of the weekly gross income from Narconon Fresh Start.   

65. NI requires Narconon Fresh Start to send it detailed weekly reports containing statistics of 

more than 40 different metrics. NI review these weekly reports and orders changes at Narconon 

Fresh Start based on increases or decreases in the statistics in the reports.   

66. NI and ABLE require that Narconon Fresh Start receive approval on all promotional 

materials before Fresh Start disseminates them. Further, Fresh Start must obtain approval as to its 

Internet websites from NI and ABLE before the sites “go live.”   

67. NI and ABLE also assist in creating Narconon Fresh Start’s advertising materials. NI and 

ABLE dictate the contents of those advertising materials.  
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68. NI requires that Narconon Fresh Start maintain a “building account fund” in which weekly 

monies from the gross income are used to purchase new premises and also as a cushion to salvage 

the organization in dire circumstances. The “building fund” is under the control of NI.   

69. NI and ABLE regularly conduct “tech inspections” at Narconon Fresh Start. These 

inspections entail NI and ABLE monitoring and correcting the manner in which Narconon Fresh 

Start delivers the Narconon treatment program to patients at Fresh Start. NI and ABLE instruct 

staff at Fresh Start as to the exact manner in which they are to perform their services and deliver 

the Narconon treatment program.   

70. NI and ABLE also publish all training materials for Narconon Fresh Start. This includes 

seven different training materials on subjects ranging from the Narconon sauna program to 

overseeing to delivering the Narconon treatment program.   

71. NI and ABLE micro-manage individual Narconon centers such Fresh Start d/b/a A Life 

Worth Saving that they publish the exact materials authorized to be sold in an individual Narconon 

center’s bookstore. Further, the NI Director of Technology and Approval demands and ensures 

that there are good photos of L. Ron Hubbard visible in every center and that materials are 

available to students and staff as to L. Ron Hubbard’s contributions in the field of alcohol and 

drug rehabilitation.    

72. NI and ABLE work with individual Narconon centers such as Fresh Start on legal 

problems, including patient requests for refunds and complaints to the Better Business Bureau. In 

addition, NI and ABLE work to combat negative publicity for Fresh Start.   

73. NI and ABLE are intimately involved in the day-to-day operations of Narconon Fresh 

Start. NI and ABLE have the final authority over all decisions at Narconon Fresh Start relating to 

hiring and firing, delivery of services, finances, advertising, training, and general operations.   

74. There is such unity of interest and ownership among Narconon Fresh Start, NI, and ABLE 

that they are inseparable from one another.   
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75. The separate corporate existences of Narconon Fresh Start, NI, and ABLE is a scheme to 

fraudulently induce patients to enroll in one of their treatment facilities and pay substantial funds. 

Further, Defendants perpetrate this scheme to recruit for and promote the Scientology religion.  

76. It is interests of justice to disregard the corporate shield and treat Defendants Fresh Start, 

NI, and ABLE as identical. Accordingly, each claim for relief listed below is made against all 

Defendants.   

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

DAMAGES FOR FEDERAL WIRETAP VIOLATIONS UNDER 18 U.S.C. § 2520 

77.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation 

set forth in the preceding paragraphs and further allege as follows: 

78. Defendants use scripts to route person from a website that purports to be a site for a non-

profit referral service for persons seeking help finding an appropriate rehabilitation facility. This 

website is www.drug-rehabs.org.  

79.  The website www.drug-rehabs.org is owned and operated by Narconon Fresh Start. A copy 

of the script that Defendants use to route persons from this site to Narconon Fresh Start is attached 

hereto as Exhibit I.  

80. Using this script, a Fresh Start staff member poses as a drug and alcohol counselor 

working for a non-profit referral service. The staff member manipulates the caller by, inter alia, 

purporting to make an assessment of the addict’s situation and declaring that the addict has a 

“Category 3 Drug Addiction.” Exhibit I, p.4. In reality, the Fresh Start staff member is not making 

an assessment, but instead is merely reading from the script that has pre-determined the addict has 

a “Category 3 Drug Addiction.”  

81. The Fresh Start staff member then uses the script to steer the person to want to seek 

treatment at Fresh Start. When the caller is ready to speak to a salesperson or “registrar” at Fresh 

Start, the caller is to be “tagged live” to the Fresh Start salesperson. Id. at p.8. This means that the 
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call is transferred from the Fresh Start staff member posing as an independent referral service to a 

Fresh Start salesperson.  

82.  The script advises Fresh Start staff to “ALWAYS TAG LIVE, if the person does not want 

to talk to a counselor, bring them back to the ruin, remind them they said they were willing to do 

whatever it takes, ICE WATER DIP them with the major problems you uncovered, let them know 

what will happen if ____ doesn’t get the right help.”  Id. at 8. (emphases and blank in original) 

83. The script then indicates that Fresh Start is recording its sales calls and using the 

recordings to conduct further analyses: “(Typically if the person does not want to get tagged, you 

have left out a step or not handled an objection properly, bring a copy of the reach sheet and the 

TAPE (you should have taped it) to Qual and ask qual to listen to the tape with you to see where 

the TECH went out or was left out).” Id. at 8.  

84. Fresh Start, acting on behalf of all Defendants, routinely records its sales calls and saves 

those recordings in a library of sorts for further study.  

85. Fresh Start deliberately and purposely recorded its calls with Plaintiff Sherri Brown 

without her knowledge.  

86. During Plaintiff Sherri Brown’s calls with Fresh Start she provided extremely private 

information about her family, her financial situation, and embarrassing details about Plaintiff 

Emily Brown’s substance abuse. Plaintiff Sherri Brown had a reasonable expectation of privacy in 

conversations with Fresh Start.  

87. Fresh Start never asked Plaintiff Sherri Brown for permission to record their conversations. 

If Fresh Start had asked, Plaintiff Sherri Brown would not have granted the request.  

88. Fresh Start, acting on behalf of all Defendants, violated Plaintiff’s rights under 18 U.S.C. § 

2511 et seq. by intentionally recording her private conversations with Fresh Start salespersons 

without Plaintiff Sherri Brown’s permission.  
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89. Fresh Start further violated Plaintiffs’ rights by disclosing the recording of their 

conversations to others as a means of teaching the high pressure and deceptive sales techniques 

Fresh Start uses.  

90.  For Defendants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. § 2511 et seq., Plaintiffs are entitled to all 

damages recoverable under 18 U.S.C. § 2520, including, without limitation, costs and reasonable 

attorneys’ fees, punitive damages, injunctive relief, and statutory damages.  

    SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

BREACH OF CONTRACT 

91. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set 

forth in the preceding paragraphs and further allege as follows: 

92. Defendants contracted with Plaintiff Sherri Brown, to provide Emily, in exchange for 

consideration, secular, residential drug and alcohol treatment.  

93.  Defendants breached this contract by, inter alia: (i) failing to provide services constituting 

drug and alcohol treatment; and (ii) providing Scientology in lieu of drug and alcohol treatment.    

94.  Defendants’ breaches have caused Plaintiffs to suffer damages in excess of this Court’s 

jurisdictional minimum.  

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FRAUD 

95. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set 

forth in the preceding paragraphs and further alleges as follows: 

96.  The following is a non-exhaustive list of false representations Defendants knowingly 

made to the Plaintiffs: (i) that the Fresh Start program has a 76% success rate; (ii) that the Fresh 

Start program is secular and does not involve the study or practice of any religion; (iii) that Emily 

would receive counseling related to substance abuse at  Fresh Start d/b/a Sunshine Summit Lodge; 

(iv) that Fresh Start’s sauna program, i.e, the Purification Rundown, is safe and has been 

Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1   Filed 08/13/14   Page 15 of 20



 

16 

COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

scientifically shown to be effective to reduce or eliminate drug cravings; and (v) that Emily would 

be under the supervision of licensed medical professionals such as doctors or nurses during the 

program.  

97. Tonya Lawson made these statements to Plaintiff Sherri Brown on or about March 6, 2014, 

to induce her to admit her daughter to Fresh Start. Fresh Start also made these statements on its 

website, www.sunshinesummitlodge.com, and Lawson directed Plaintiffs to the site. Fresh Start 

staff made these same false representations to Plaintiffs throughout Emily’s stay at Fresh Start.  

98. Had Plaintiff Sherri Brown known that any of the above representations Defendants made 

were false, she would not have admitted Emily to Fresh Start.  

99. As a proximate result of Defendants’ fraudulent conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered injuries  

and pecuniary damages in excess of this Court’s jurisdictional minimum.  

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 NEGLIGENCE 

100. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set 

forth in the preceding paragraphs and further allege as follows: 

101. Defendants owed Plaintiffs a duty to render substance abuse treatment to Emily in a 

manner that did not subject her to an unreasonable risk of harm. Defendants further had a duty of 

care to render reasonably safe and effective treatment to her.  

102. Defendants breached these duties by: (i) failing to staff the Fresh Start treatment facility 

with any qualified medical personnel; (ii) failing to provide duly qualified counselors to 

administer treatment; and (iii) providing Emily Scientology in lieu of substance abuse treatment.   

103. As a proximate result of Defendants’ breaches of the above duties, Plaintiffs suffered 

damages and injuries in excess of this Court’s jurisdictional minimum.  
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

104. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set 

forth in the preceding paragraphs and further allege as follows: 

105. Defendants engaged in extreme and outrageous conduct with the intention of causing, or 

with reckless disregard of the probability of causing Plaintiffs severe or extreme emotional 

distress. Defendants’ extreme and outrageous conduct consisted of, inter alia: (i) providing Emily 

Scientology in lieu drug treatment or substance abuse counseling; and (ii) preying on Plaintiffs’ 

vulnerabilities and attempting to recruit Emily into Scientology under the guise of providing drug 

treatment.  

106 As a proximate result of Defendants’ extreme and outrageous conduct, Emily has suffered 

severe and extreme emotional distress way beyond what any person in a civilized society should 

be expected to endure.  

 SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION  

107. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set 

forth in the preceding paragraphs and further allege as follows: 

108. The following is a non-exhaustive list of false representations Defendants made to the 

Plaintiffs: (i) that the Fresh Start program has a 76% success rate; (ii) that the Fresh Start program 

is secular and does not involve the study or practice of any religion; (iii) that Emily would receive 

counseling related to substance abuse at Sunshine Summit Lodge; (iv) that Fresh Start’s sauna 

program, i.e, the Purification Rundown, is safe and has been scientifically shown to be effective in 

reducing or eliminating drug cravings; and (v) that Emily would be under the supervision of 

doctors or nurses during the program.  
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109. Tonya Lawson made these statements to Plaintiff Sherri Brown on or about March 6, 2014, 

to induce her to admit her daughter to Fresh Start. Fresh Start also made these statements on their 

website, www.sunshinesummitlodge.com, and Lawson directed Brown to the site. Fresh Start staff 

made these same false representations to Plaintiffs throughout Emily’s stay at Fresh Start.  

110. Defendants made these statements to Plaintiff Sherri Brown in the course of their business. 

These statements were for Plaintiffs’ guidance in their transaction with Defendants.  

111. Defendants made these statements without exercising reasonable care. Plaintiffs relied on 

these false statements of fact resulting in substantial pecuniary loss and other injuries to Plaintiffs 

112. Defendants made these representations without using reasonable care.  

  

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 CLAIMS UNDER CALIFORNIA UNFAIR COMPETITION ACT, 

 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200   

113.     Plaintiffs incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set 

forth in the preceding paragraphs and further allege as follows: 

114.      Defendants, both on their website at www.sunshinesummitlodge.com, and through their 

sales representatives Tonya Lawson, advertised to Plaintiff Sherri Brown the following false 

statements of fact: (i) that the Fresh Start program has a 76% “success rate;” (ii) that Defendants’ 

sauna program, the New Life Detoxification program, flushes residual drug toxins from a patient’s 

tissues and thereby reduces or eliminates drug cravings; (iii) that the Fresh Start or the Narconon 

treatment program has the highest “success rate” in the drug and alcohol rehabilitation field; and 

(iv) that Fresh Start provides “cognitive behavior therapy” when, in fact, the courses and education 

NFS offers is nothing more than entry-level Scientology. 

115.      NI and ABLE control and approve Fresh Start’s advertising materials and scripts that 

salespersons such as Tonya Lawson use when speaking to prospective patients.   
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116.       Defendants’ marketing materials for Fresh Start do not disclose that all rehabilitation 

materials used at Fresh Start are the same materials persons beginning the study and practice of 

Scientology use.   Further, the marketing materials for the New Life Detoxification Program do 

not disclose that it is based on the work of L. Ron Hubbard and is a Scientology ritual known as 

the “Purification Rundown.” 

117.  Plaintiffs have been injured by relying on Defendants’ false advertisements. Members of 

the public are likewise likely to be deceived by Defendants’ false and misleading advertising. 

118.  Defendants’ deceptive and unlawful business practices complained of herein continue to 

this day. Defendants repeatedly have shown that they will continue engaging in these deceptive 

and unlawful practices until they are judicially compelled to stop. 

119.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs are entitled to all relief available for Defendants’ violations of Cal. 

Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the following relief: 

A. Judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and against Defendants for damages in such amounts as 

may be proven at trial; 

B. Compensation for special, general damages, and treble damages; 

C. Reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of suit; 

D. Injunctive relief prohibiting Defendants from further deceptive trade practices; 

E. Punitive or exemplary damages against Defendant; 

F. All further relief, both legal and equitable, that the Court deems just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs demand a jury trial on all issues triable.  

 

DATED this 13th day of August, 2014. 
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Respectfully submitted,  

 

       By:/s/ Ryan A. Hamilton 

RYAN A. HAMILTON, ESQ. 

NV BAR NO. 11587 

HAMILTON LAW  

5125 S. Durango Dr., Ste. C 

Las Vegas, NV 89113 

                                                                                          

       (702) 818-1818 

(702) 974-1139 

ryan@hamiltonlawlasvegas.com 

 

       Attorney for Plaintiffs 

Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1   Filed 08/13/14   Page 20 of 20



'14CV1907 JMAJLS

Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-1   Filed 08/13/14   Page 1 of 2



Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-1   Filed 08/13/14   Page 2 of 2



 

 

Exhibit A 

Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-2   Filed 08/13/14   Page 1 of 3



Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-2   Filed 08/13/14   Page 2 of 3



Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-2   Filed 08/13/14   Page 3 of 3



 

 

Exhibit B 

Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-3   Filed 08/13/14   Page 1 of 6



Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-3   Filed 08/13/14   Page 2 of 6



Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-3   Filed 08/13/14   Page 3 of 6



Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-3   Filed 08/13/14   Page 4 of 6



Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-3   Filed 08/13/14   Page 5 of 6



Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-3   Filed 08/13/14   Page 6 of 6



 

 

Exhibit C 

Case 3:14-cv-01907-JLS-JMA   Document 1-4   Filed 08/13/14   Page 1 of 3



From: "Mike Toth" <mtoth@kech.com> 
Date: January 16, 2009, 11:17:28 AM EST 
To: "Miriam Tenorio" <miriamtenorio@yahoo.com>, "Claudia Arcabascio" 
<locarcabascio@narconon.org> 
Subject: RE: Re: Wolverton BBB complaint and suggested response 

Miriam’ 
  
What is the bottom line……. Any refund anticipated?  I believe the response to the BBB should begin with 
the response to the specific allegations and conclude with the factual basis for him leaving the program. 
Use more “generic” terms for the technical aspects of the program. Claudia’s suggestions are 
appropriate.  Call me to discuss specifics. 
  

 
From: Miriam Tenorio [mailto:miriamtenorio@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, January 15, 2009 1:20 PM 

To: Claudia Arcabascio; Mike Toth 

Subject: Fw: Re: Wolverton BBB complaint and suggested response 
  

Sorry - forgot to attach the file. Here it is! :) 

 

--- On Thu, 1/15/09, Miriam Tenorio <miriamtenorio@yahoo.com> wrote: 
From: Miriam Tenorio <miriamtenorio@yahoo.com> 

Subject: Re: Wolverton BBB complaint and suggested response 

To: "Claudia Arcabascio" <locarcabascio@narconon.org>, "Mike Toth" <mtoth@kech.com> 

Date: Thursday, January 15, 2009, 12:18 PM 

Dear Claudia and Mike, 
  
I have re-written the response to the Wolverton BBB complaine - see most recent attachment. 

The actual complaint is found on  
http://www.westernmichigan.bbb.org/complaint/view/37013866/b/so2o9h4k. 
Please let me know if this is ok to send.  
ML, 
Miriam 

 

--- On Mon, 1/12/09, Claudia Arcabascio <locarcabascio@narconon.org> wrote: 
From: Claudia Arcabascio <locarcabascio@narconon.org> 

Subject: Re: Wolverton BBB complaint and suggested response 

To: "Miriam Tenorio" <miriamtenorio@yahoo.com> 

Cc: "PRODUCTION NNI" <production@narconon.org>, "John Walser A/ED NN FC" 

<johnwalser@gmail.com> 

Date: Monday, January 12, 2009, 4:36 PM 

Dear Miriam, 
  
Thanks for sent me this. I don't have a copy of the letter received from the BBB which makes difficult for 
me to see if the answer is appropiate.  
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However, I see the letter okay less than the comment of "hearsay". It is a generality.  
  
I cannot reach Helena today to review this. Instead, I recommend the following: 
  
1. Correct the letter (more ARC in the letter and change the expression of "hearsay" for specifics and do 
not say that we have 70% success (we do not have scientific evidence of it). 
2. Send a copy of the letter received from BBB to Mike Toth along with the proposed answer (corrected 
by you). 
3. Get okay from the attorney 
4. Send the letter (preferably by certified mail return receipt request). Check out this point with Mike Toth 
first.  
  
If you send to Mike Toth the complete data, it should not take for him more than 10 minutes of his time.  
  
Please let me know if you have any questions. 
  
ML, 
Claudia 
----- Original Message -----  
From: Miriam Tenorio  
To: Claudia Arcabascio  
Sent: Monday, January 12, 2009 8:57 AM 
Subject: Wolverton BBB complaint and suggested response 
  

Dear Claudia, 
  
Here is a BBB complaint from a suspended student, Joe W. Michelle has written a response 

which is attached. Please let me know if this letter looks ok by you or whether we need to 

rewrite. 
Thanks! 
Miriam 

 

--- On Mon, 1/12/09, Michelle Darrell <mdarrell@freedomtreatmentcenter.com> wrote: 
From: Michelle Darrell <mdarrell@freedomtreatmentcenter.com> 

Subject: Wolverton 

To: miriamtenorio@yahoo.com 

Date: Monday, January 12, 2009, 10:25 AM 

http://www.westernmichigan.bbb.org/complaint/view/37013866/b/so2o9h4k. 
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SOCIAL COORDINATION INTERNATIONAL 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTIVE

SOCO INT ED 19 16th April 1987
TO : ALL SOCO GROUPS

SOCO CONT OFFICES 
SOCO INT

INFO :
FCB EXECS 
CLO EXECS 
ORG EXECS 
MISSION EXECS

FROM: CO SOCO INT
URGENT IMPORTANT 

SOCIAL COORDINATION STRATEGY

The only reason LRH™ founded the network of SOCIAL COORDINATION 
was to directly get the technologies of Education, Drug Rehabilitation

 and the rehabilitation of criminals into wide use 
in the society and arrest the decline of the society, caused 
by a few people who introduced unworkable technology.

This then also gives the only reason you are there, 
which is TO SELL LRH's TECH TO THE SOCIETY AND GET IT USED, as 
THE TECH to handle criminality, Drug Rehabilitation and Education.

In a time of great social unrest, where drug use is at its 
peak, where the crime rate is consistently increasing, where 
children and adults are frantic about faulty education, there is 
one STABLE DATUM in all this : LRH's TECHNOLOGY.

Unless a SOCO group concentrates on getting LRH's Tech out 
into the society, replacing unworkable tech, it will have a hard 
time. Getting this done by all SOCO groups is the prime interest 
of SOCO INT, te get the TECH into the society. There are various 
sales points to accomplish this : Sales to States, to Institutions, 
to individuals, to businesses etc.

Every post on an org board has a role in accomplishing this.
Anyone who backs this up and does it is totally safe on 

post and will be backed up.
Anyone found not actively supporting or doing this will 

receive no mercy.
The stats of posts and groups directly measure whether this 

is being done. And, if a group's stats are up it is direct proof 
that its execs and staff are oriented in getting LRHs tech out 
and used, and if they are down, it proves they are not.

Any idea that a SOCO group is there for any other reason
than getting LRH's tech out to society and replacing the 
unworkable tech that has been introduced, must be cast aside.

You do have the policies on how to go about this. You 
definitely have the public demand. Who wants a drugged, criminal 
or stupid society except suppressives.

In the teeth of the forces who work to destroy western
civilisation, you will get nowhere until you begin to work as
subversives of the planned subversion.

The whole fields of law enforcement, drug handling and 
education aren't going bad through stupidity.
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We can handle it, insanity, drugs. To not sell the functions 
is to deny the world the tech.

Always keep this in mind : YOU ARE THERE TO SELL LRH's 
TECH TO THE SOCIETY AND GET IT USED, AS THE TECH.

You do this through a SMOOTH JOB OF PROMOTIONAL 
ORGANIZATION - FRONT GROUPS, CORPORATIONS, FIELD WORKERS, ETC. 
SOCO OFFICES ARE THERE TO ORGANIZE IT AND GET IT DONE.

If you find that your post actions are not fully aligned 
to this, no matter what the post, and your post stats will 
tell the story, then you must change your operating basis, 
so that your post fully aligns with selling LRH's tech to 
the society and getting it used as the tech to handle crime and 
drug rehabilitation and education.

Realize, that anyone who is trying to confuse you, by 
telling you to do other things which do not align with the 
above stable datum, is factually suppressing the mission we 
are on to accomplish, and is playing into the hands of the 
subverters of the fields of education, crime and drug handling.

By actually sticking to the above stable datum, we will 
accomplish a total revolution in the fields of drugs, crime 
and education, and get LRH's tech used as THE tech to handle 
the above fields.

What you need to do is very simple : you must do the 
functions of your post as laid out in LRH policy to the end 
result of selling LRH's tech to the society and getting it 
used as THE tech, and you must demand that the other staff 
in your group or organization do the same, so that maximum 
forward progress can be achieved.

And by doing this we can't help but make LRH's Tech 
the only tech being used in the handling of drugs, crime 
and education, with all the unworkable tech out of use, 
including those that introduced it.

This will bring us forward to a civilisation without 
insanity, without criminals and without war, where the 
able can prosper and honest beings can have rights and where 
Man is free to rise to greater heights.

Alois Eisenring 
COMMANDING OFFICER 
SOCO INTERNATIONAL

Authorized by 
AVC INT

AVCI:AE:rw 
©  1987 by SOCO Int 
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

LRH is a trademark owned by Religious Technology Center and 
are used with its permission. Printed in U.S.A.
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ALL Registrars I/T April 30, 2011
Deputy Executive Director

DRO Script with Explanations
Revised September 12, 2012

1. PT Scene & DM   – 5-10 Minutes (Here you are getting the PT Scene by asking a few questions)

Hi _______ my name is _______ and I am a Drug and Alcohol Counselor.  I have here that 
____________ is using __________.  Are there any other drugs or substances that you are aware of? 
 Is __________ snorting, smoking or shooting _________ (Does not apply for Alcohol)
What is the current living situation with ___________  Is he/she working?

What Transpired recently with ___________that prompted you to call in today? (After they go off for a 
few minutes, use your TR4 to get the person back on track and to the next questions)

***Who in the family is aware and involved with ___________’s addiction? Who in the family would 
want to see _________get help? Who else is actively looking for treatment help for __________? 
What is ___________ opinion on the situation and what should be done?  What is __________ role in 
getting __________ help?  What about _________’s Grandparents, Aunts, Uncles, Siblings 

(Here you need to pull strings and find out Aunts, Uncles, Siblings and WHAT THEIR ROLE IS IN THE 
TREATMENT PROCESS – you should have figured out at this point who the DM or DM’s are, and each 
person’s role and opinion is in the family, Angry and Jealous Sibling, Sympathetic and enabling Mom, 
non-confronting Dad, Grandparents that don’t know what’s going on but would help if they did etc… 
(You should also get all the players names and relationship to the addict written down, you will go back 
later for phone numbers)

***If you are not talking to the DM or one of the DM’s, then you should skip to #2 –Major Problems, 
quickly and concisely get 2-3 major outpoints/transgressions and then quickly go to #3 Ruin and get the 
contacts Ruin and willingness to do whatever it takes, then tell them step one is to call the ________ 
(DM(s) and get the DM’s phone numbers.  Note: if they don’t give you the phone numbers you did not 
get a product from #2 and #3, go back and fully get your product then get the DM’s phone numbers 
and let the person you are speaking with you will call them back after speaking with the DM.

What are some of the behaviors you are observing or have heard about?

Who is ___________ drug addiction affecting? How is it affecting them? Please explain

1
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How is __________ supporting their drug habit?

What does __________ look like physically?...  Describe that to me
What about sleep patterns?  Mood Swings? Tell me about that…Eating Habits?  

(You want to really pull strings here and blow this up, find out if pale skin, eyes sunken back with circles  
underneath them etc… Let THEM Tell you)  (This is your First Major addict  outpoint you will present to  
later so the more you get about it and have them describe it to you in detail the better off you will be 
later, be sure to write it all down and repeat it back to them for emphasis. If there is no physical issue’s  
then don’t fret, move on you will find outpoints elsewhere- let’s get real they are using drugs you are 
going to find specific outpoints.)

2. Major Problems   –   10-20 Minutes - the purpose of this is to increase the contacts confront and 
awareness which is typically low, you want to slow them down and have them look at these 2-3 major  
life issues/traumas/transgressions the addict has had and make them see how bad the drug problem 
has gotten and how important it is for them to take action.   (You want to get 2-3 Big Problems that  
have occurred from the time the person started with drugs to PT, It can be a divorce, car accident,  
failing out of school, flunked out of college, girlfriend or Boyfriend OD’ed, Lost Job, Got Fired, moved 
areas, no social skills, never was accepted, father or mother died, never graduated High School, stole $ 
from Dad’s business, on Probation) Once you have located the major life problem that occurred you  
want to have the contact go back and relive it, to do this you ask them some basic questions about it  
and how they think it may have affected the addict and family members, then you move to the next  
major problem/issue which is typically now drug related, DUI, Possession, stealing from parents or  
loved ones, pawning stuff, getting kicked out of apt or house, losing job, lying, cheating, stealing 
manipulating etc..)

Okay so before we go any further I would like to take a step back and get to where the trouble with 
_______started.  At what age did you notice there was a change in ________ behavior?  How old was 
_______and what was going on at that time in his/her life?  Were there any problems at home? 
School? With relationships?  Did _________ graduate High School?  And then what happened?  

(If you are talking to a cousin or someone far removed from the addict you will just concentrate on the 
events they know about and ask them questions about them until you have uncovered all the major 
details and had them go back and relive them, if you are talking to an parent or someone the addict 
lived with you should be able to get more details)
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What was the next big problem _______  (Addict) ran into?  What happened?  Did the drug use 
escalate?  How do you think that may have affected _______(Addict)
What was the next major event that occurred because of ___________ (Addicts) addiction? Tell me 
about that….Who was there?  How did you find out about it?
What has occurred here recently with ________ (Addicts) drug use?

Okay so tell me about when ___________ happened (stole car, got arrested, got fired, DUI) who was 
there? How did you find out about it?  Do you think __________ (Addict) after it happened had guilt, 
Anger, or shame associated with it?  Do you think that _____ ever got over or moved past it? Or do you 
think they are still holding onto it?

What was the next major event that occurred because of ______________ addiction Tell me about 
that…..  Who was there? How did you find out about it?

And then you said earlier that you called in today because _____________(addict) did 
_____________(got arrested, stole car, kicked out) Wow this is really out of control….

3. Ruin   – 3-5 Minutes- The Reg has uncovered the Prospects Ruin Points.  These are things the prospect is 
not willing to experience and will do anything under the sun to avoid taking place.  I.E – Felony charges 
and he will never be able to get a good job, Legal Charges, Kid’s get taken away by CPS, children grow 
up without a father or mother, Addicts liver or kidneys fail, wind up in Jail or prison, kill themselves or 
someone else by drunk driving, they die from an overdose.  During this step the Reg should ask the 
following questions:  #1  - recapping the 3 major transgressions and then asking “Where do you see 
this situation 6 months from now if he/she continues on this path and does not stop using the drugs/
alcohol?  (this is to have the prospect play the tape forward to see the future path of destruction) 
#2- “What is your worst fear of what will happen to ______ and the family if _________ does not get 
into rehab?  (this is where the Reg should uncover the 1 thing the prospect is not willing to 
experience, which there can be many differences and variations from family to family) 
                                     #3 – “Are you willing to do whatever it takes at this point to prevent ________ 
(Answer from question 2) from happening?  

***Tell the person (Non DM) you are speaking to after you speak with the DM(S) you will call them 
back and get everyone on a conference call.    DO NOT PROCEED FORWARD UNLESS YOU ARE 
SPEAKING WITH THE DM A DM OR MAJOR FAMILY OPNION LEADER.  

4. Re-establish ARC with Addict   (3 minutes)
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Okay I know this may be difficult but I want you to take want to take a step back from all the bad things 
and situations ______ has created, when was the last time ___________ was doing well or was happy 
in life?  Tell me about that….

(it could be sports in High School, Music, Art, Little League, Building Cars with dad, with his/her 
girlfriend or boyfriend, back at three years old running up to them and saying Mommy etc…)  

***Once you have located a time and activity have the person tell you about it…

Now that person is still there, I know it is hard to see right now, and after all the destructive things 
_____________ has done, but I am telling you clear as day, that person you just described to me is still 
there and can be helped, this bad movie can go away, we just have to take the correct steps and 
actions.  Okay?

5. Educating on Addiction/ Establishing Self as Opinion Leader     

Okay based on everything you have told me and we have gone over  ______________ has a Category 3 
Drug Addiction, meaning that the drug use and abuse has continued despite all the negative 
consequences that have occurred, and despite all threats from you and the family to stop. 
___________ has crossed over to not stopping without a long-term comprehensive program to handle 
the drugs.  The other qualifying factor for a category 3 addiction is the person has used daily for a 
period of more than 3 months which is clearly the situation with _____________

When a person uses a drug regularly for a period of months, their brain chemistry and central nervous 
system make changes to make accommodations for the drug.  The body and mind get used to having 
the drug present; when the drug is no longer present in the body because the addict attempts to quit, 
it is the body and the mind sending the addict the signal to get more drugs.  The signal comes in 
various forms; the most common are thoughts, dreams, urges, cravings and compulsions.  This is one 
of the two major causes for relapse. It is very important to understand that it takes a good 60-90 days 
for the central nervous system and the brain chemistry to return to normal, like mine and yours. 
During that time, the addict will receive constant signals to get the drug and it will be constantly on 
their mind.  

The best way I can describe this is a common situation you may have experienced.  Have you ever been 
late for an appointment and are running out the door and you can’t find your car & house key’s.  You 
look in all the usual places and they are not there, and all you can think about is where are my keys, 
where are my keys, where are my keys?  If someone were to attempt to stand in front and talk to you 
would you be listening to what they were saying? Or would you be tunnel vision on where are my 
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keys?  Well that is how it is for _____________, but instead of where are my keys, where are my keys, 
where are my keys, it is where is my ________(drug), where is my _________(drug), where is my 
_________(drug) and it is pretty constant and relentless for those first 2-3 months.  That is why every 
time _____________ (Addict) promises himself and then you (he/she) will quit, which by the way he 
really does mean it at that moment when (he/she) promises you and swears he is going to quit, but 
cannot follow through with that commitment because of the constant signals and compulsions to get 
and do the drug.  Then failure occurs in which the family becomes upset and comes down on the 
addict and the addict feels even more like a failure for not be able to follow through with abstinence 
which in turn further pushes (him/her) to get high and not have to think about it.  

For precisely these reasons nothing less than a 90 Day treatment will work for _____________’s 
situation. Does that make sense? (Check for understanding and agreement)

6. Educating Types of Treatment – What to Avoid/ Make recommendation  

I want give you a brief education on the types of treatments that will not work so that you know what 
to avoid, most families make a few common mistakes that blow up in their face and the addiction then 
becomes worse.  I tell you all this for your and the rest of the families piece of mind, because let’s face 
it ___________ is having negative effects everyone’s life, not just (his/her’s) We will go through these 
so you have an understanding of the options and why most will not work with ___________’s situation 
and what ones will most likely work.

State Funded County Funded Low Cost Treatment Centers – First there are the free or low cost State 
Funded/County Funded Treatment, this is used as an absolute last resort.  The reason I say this is 
because of the type of people they treat and the level of treatment they deliver.  Most addicts that 
attend are criminals who are court ordered to be there.  You have you convicted felons, sex offenders, 
hardened criminals who actually have no desire to be there or get better and are only there because a 
Judge forced them to go.  Many of the State or County Treatment Centers have Security Guards, With 
Guns and Badges, barbed wire fences, dogs, and cameras.  I used to get upset as to why they had all 
those things but realized a while back that with that type of clientele they have to.  One of the major 
problems is that no one feels comfortable enough to talk about their problems or even begin to get 
help; they are just trying to avoid getting into fights or being sent to solitary.  Also a lot of families that 
have put their loved ones in that type of treatment come to find out they met up with people and 
formed connections with harder drugs, crime rings, gangs etc… and get into more severe trouble when 
they get out.  The counselors and therapists are underpaid and undertrained and the bottom line is the 
success rates are very low, ranging from 1-3% success rate, meaning that 97- 99% failure or recidivism 
rate.  There are many reason for this, one major one other than the ones I already spoke about is the 
fact that you cannot punish the addiction out of somebody, I wish it were that easy but it’s not. 
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“Well known” or “Reputable Treatment Centers”

Now, On the Other end of the spectrum you have your more well-known and I will use this term very 
loosely but you more “Reputable” treatment centers like Passages of Malibu, Sierra Tucson, The 
Meadows at Wickenburg, Cirque Lodge or Betty Ford, Promises and these programs are a mixed bag, 
some are very good like Passages Malibu others are not very good, the one thing they have in common 
is they are significantly more costly.

Passages of Malibu, in Malibu California is one of the best programs in the country, some might even 
say it is the best program.  The success rate is very high, they use an individualized approach rather 
than group therapy, and they have a written guarantee that comes with the program.  Although I do 
not agree with some of the methods, the bottom line for every 100 people that go through the 
program the vast majority stay clean and sober and at the end f the day that is all that counts.  The 
only problem with the program is that most people cannot afford, their 90 day program is $150,000, 
which in my opinion is a bit ridiculous.  Unless you’re a celebrity or born into royalty this is not an 
option for most people and families. 

The Cirque Lodge in Utah is $78,000 for 30 days of treatment and their success rate is horrible.  They 
advertise the Helicopter Ride you get to the lodge at the summit of the mountain as a major program 
feature.  The program is mostly group therapy and is very ineffective.  Lindsey Lohan went their twice.

Then you have Betty Ford, which you may have heard of.  Betty Ford passed away this last year and 
God Bless her as she was a wonderful woman who helped countless people.  The Betty Ford Clinic is 
more reasonably priced than the others in this category at $56,200 for 90 days of treatment.  This is 
mainly because it is a Non-Profit Treatment Center.  The success rate is also very good, not as high as 
Passages of Malibu but much higher than the Cirque Lodge and the others.  The only thing with the 
Betty Ford Center is they mainly specialize in Alcohol, which is what they have the most success with 
and they will be the first to tell you that when it comes to street drugs, they are not as successful.

Lastly you have a category of Non-Profit Treatment Centers that are time variable but are a minimum 
of 90 days.  There are 6 centers in particular that are called Narconon Fresh Start or Fresh Start 
Programs.  These centers are more reasonably priced and run off a flat rate of $30,000-$35,000 
depending on the program and location.  These programs are an individualized based treatment model 
and not group therapy.  The success rates are claimed to fall between 75-80%.   Some of the programs 
come with a written guarantee; you would need to ask a counselor which ones do.  The only thing with 
these treatment centers is sometimes they are full and running on a waiting list.   That and they are not 
as “Posh” or luxurious as the more expensive ones. 

7. Present   
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Based on what we have gone over today and what you have told me of ____________ addiction, the 
best fit would be one of the time variable non-profit treatment centers I just went over with you.  They 
meet the 90+ days of treatment which _________ absolutely needs, it’s an individualized approach 
rather than group therapy, and if you can get one of the programs that has a guarantee that would the 
best thing you could hope for in regards to substance abuse and mental health treatment, as Passages 
of Malibu and a couple of these Fresh Start Centers are the only ones the U.S. that have something like 
that, and with __________ track record so far with addiction, it will give the family some reassurance 
that the treatment is guaranteed to work. I have gotten very good feedback on several of these, with 
the only major complaint being that admissions process restricts some people for various reasons that 
and I had a mother call in the other day upset as her son got accepted but then there was no 
availability and they were working off a waiting list.  The other aspect I like in these programs is they 
incorporate the treatment to be a cognitive behavioral model, not the disease model.  Meaning that 
the counseling does not incorporate Relapse as part of the recovery process, the treatment deals with 
the physical aspect of the addiction and fully detoxifying the body, followed by the mental aspect 
where cognitive thinking, underlying issue resolvement and, responsibility, work ethic, and life skills 
therapy are addressed, which every addict needs.  

As a second choice and if there is no availability at one of the Fresh Start programs I would look at the 
Betty Ford Clinic’s 90 day program, it does not have as high a success rate, but it is a good program and 
I like the fact that it is non-profit.  It also has a good reputation, however with their specialty being with 
Alcoholics, and ___________ having an addiction to _________ it is not ideal, but much better than the 
30 day programs, or the state funded and low cost programs.

8. Website Walkthrough and LIVE TAG  
Let’s start with the Fresh Start Programs since they are going to be the best fit and go from there.
I want to show you something in regards to __________’s (Addicts) drug of choice _________ (Drug – 
Meth, Crack, Marijuana).  Are you in front of a computer?  If No- Can you get in front of a computer?

Okay good type in www.drugrehab.com in the top address bar (Or GOOGLE Fresh Start and click on the 
first link it should say Drug Rehab – see it?)  Good click on that link.  What do you see?  It should say 
“LIFE NEEDS YOU BACK, WE CAN HELP” Okay good, click on the big green bottom that says Tour, then 
click on Video Gallery.  Okay now scroll down towards the bottom and you should see “The Truth 
About Drug Video’s” See it?  Okay good click on the one that says “The Truth about _______ (Addicts 
DOC).  While you are watching this I am going to put you on mute so you can hear it and follow it.  In 
the meantime I am going to try to get a counselor from one of these centers on the phone that can go 
over the program details, locations and availability and can answer specifics for you.  I may or may not 
be able to but I will pick you back up at the end of the video.  Click on it, okay I will pick you up here in 
a few minutes.
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Hi __________,(DM) I am back, the video was informative huh?, that drug is just horrible, it destroys 
the person and destroys the whole family.  Okay well I have _______(Reg Name) on the other line and I 
am going to transfer you over.  I will call you in the next 24-48 hours to checkup and see if you need 
further assistance, is the (818-555-5785) the best number for me to reach you at? Or do you have an 
alternate number you want to leave with me? Okay…

I told the counselor a little bit about the situation with ________(Addict) but you may need to bring 
him/her (Reg) to speed on some the details.  

Oh and a couple of things before I forget First and foremost clarify that the program length is at least 
90 days with this or any treatment center.   You also want to find out what the success rate is, and find 
out what the admissions process is and if they have an interview.  Most importantly you want to speak 
to at least 2-3 parent references that will give you their experience with the center.  Okay I am going to 
transfer you now hold on…  

TAG the call and if you can listen to how the Reg handles it and how smooth the handoff from you to 
him/her was so you know what to do or not to do next time.

  ***ALWAYS TAG LIVE, if the person does not want to talk to a counselor, bring them back to the ruin, 
remind them they said they were willing to do whatever it takes,  ICE WATER DIP them with major 
problems you uncovered, let them know what will happen if ________ doesn’t get the right help

(Typically if the person does not want to get tagged, you have left out a step or not handled an 
objection properly, bring a copy of the reach sheet and the TAPE (you should have taped it) to Qual 
and ask qual to listen to the tape with you to see where the TECH went out or was left out)

Additional Program Type Dead Agent Material

30 Day 12 Step/ Modified 12 Step Treatment - There is also your 30 Day 12 Step or Modified 12 Step 
Programs, I would steer clear of these at all costs!  They have several things going against them and the 
success rate is from 2-8% depending on the program, which once you really take, a look at the setup 
becomes very obvious.  They teach that Relapse is part of recovery, so I have talked with many families 
that spend $30,000 for a 30 day program and when their kid gets back he or she drops their bag off 
and says “Mom Dad, I am going to hang out with my friends and get high, relapse is part of my 
recovery.  There is no accountability or responsibility and the addict uses this as an excuse every time 
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they mess up.  The other issues are 30 Days of treatment is not near close enough for most people, 
they were originally designed that way by insurance companies to keep cost down, back when 
insurance companies used to actually subsidize substance abuse treatment.   Look at how long 
_____(Addict) has been using, do you think all of a sudden in 30 days it’s all going to be handled. 
Group therapy is the main form of therapy, which is what we call passive treatment, there is 1 
counselor and 30-40 patients in the room, if you want to participate you can if you want to put your 
head down on the desk you can, if you want to stare out the window and think about your girlfriend 
you can.  If you do decide to participate your limited to 2-3 minutes to share with the group, what 
actually gets accomplished in that 2-3 minutes? 

Wilderness Programs – I used to frequently refer out to Wilderness programs such as Ashley Valley 
Wilderness in Utah, as they teach work ethic, teamwork and responsibility, three things most addicts 
do not possess.  Each person has certain responsibilities and tasks they must complete in the 
wilderness, if they fail, the whole group suffers so they are encouraged not to fail.  I got from a 
multitude of parent’s and families that when their loved one returned, they were happy and would 
actually volunteer to help around the house, do chores etc…  Many of them unfortunately relapsed 
within 2-3 weeks.  After much research it became evident as to the many relapses, it was discovered 
that although responsibility, work ethic and teamwork were taught, many of the underlying issues, 
traumas and transgressions the person had experienced were not addressed, so all the negative 
feelings and emotions associated with those were still there and many times all it took was a bad day 
or getting yelled at and it was enough for them to want to go get high.  

Medical Model/Drug Substitution Programs – There are also your 28 day or 30 day Medical Model 
Programs, these actually were the first of the short term quick fix programs.  They were coined Short 
Term Inpatient Programs, but should not be confused with short term residential programs which I 
described earlier. They came about by thru hospital or medical center billing insurance companies and 
the insurance companies not wanting to pay out the claims above and beyond 30 days of treatment.
The primary form of treatment and therapy is what we call drug substitution, meaning they take the 
addict off of the Meth, Cocaine, Marijuana, Crack, Heroin, Alcohol, and put them on other drugs like 
Ceraquil, Lexapro, Trazadone, Mellaril, Prozac, Lunesta, Ambien, Aderol on and on and on.  A study 
done in 2010 showed that the average patient that checked into a 30 Day Inpatient (Medical Model) 
Program on one street drug left the program with an average of three different  90 day scripts for 
Pharmaceutical Drugs.  There is a lot of money in Pharmaceuticals, which is now the biggest business 
other than gas and oil in the world.  See taking ___________ off of _________(drug) and putting 
him/her on a myriad of other drugs DOES NOT SOLVE THEIR PROBLEMS, it just masks them with a legal 
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drug rather than masking them with an illegal drug.  It is the lazy mans treatment, meaning, don’t roll 
up your sleeves and actually find out what is going on with the person, their past issues and traumas 
and help them sort through them and work them out, no, no, no, just give them a Dixie cup full of pills 
and tell them they will have to manage their illness with drugs. It’s much easier and a hell of a lot more 
profitable!
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